STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT  
Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals  
Hon. Colleen O'Brien, Presiding Judge

MICHIGAN ASSOCIATION OF HOME BUILDERS; ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS OF MICHIGAN; and MICHIGAN PLUMBING AND MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION, Michigan nonprofit corporations,

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_

Court of Appeals No. 331708

Lower Court No. 10-115620-CZ

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v

CITY OF TROY,  
a Michigan Home Rule City,

Defendant/Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

Gregory L. McClelland (P28894)  
Melissa A. Hagen (P42868)  
McCLELLAND & ANDERSON, LLP  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants  
1305 S. Washington Avenue, Suite 102  
Lansing, MI 48910  
(517) 482-4890

Lori Grigg Bluhm (P46908)  
Allan T. Motzny (P37580)  
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee  
500 W. Big Beaver Road  
Troy, MI 48084  
(248) 524-3320

\_\_\_\_\_ /

**APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL  
ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS  
MICHIGAN ASSOCIATION OF HOME BUILDERS,  
ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS OF MICHIGAN,  
and MICHIGAN PLUMBING AND MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION**

**TABLE OF CONTENTS**

STATEMENT OF JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM ..... [vii](#)

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED ..... [viii](#)

I. INTRODUCTION/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND ..... [1](#)

II. GROUNDS FOR PEREMPTORY REVERSAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF APPLICATION ..... [5](#)

III. STATEMENT OF MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS AND FACTS ..... [8](#)

IV. ARGUMENT AND LAW ..... [17](#)

    A. Standard of Review ..... [17](#)

        1. Use of the User Fee Surplus to Theoretically Offset Alleged Historical Shortfalls Violates the Plain Language of Section 22 of the CCA ..... [19](#)

            a. The User Fee Surplus is Not Reasonable or Reasonably Related to the Cost of Operations ..... [21](#)

            b. The User Fee Surplus is Not Used for Operation of the Building Department ..... [23](#)

        2. Use of the User Fee Surplus to Theoretically Offset Alleged Historical Shortfalls Violates Section 22 of the CCA Based on Section 22’s Interrelationship with Other Provisions of the CCA and Other Michigan Laws ..... [28](#)

            a. The Uniformity Mandated by the CCA Requires Reversal of the Court of Appeals ..... [28](#)

            b. Treasury Guidance Interpreting the CCA Require Reversal of the Circuit Court ..... [29](#)

            c. Well-Established Fee Reasonableness Principles Require Reversal of the Court of Appeals ..... [34](#)

            d. Tax Principles Require Reversal of the Court of Appeals ..... [35](#)

- 3. Use of the User Fee Surplus to Theoretically Offset Alleged Historical Shortfalls Violates the Purpose and Policy of Section 22 of the CCA ..... [37](#)
- 4. Conclusion Under Section 22 of the CCA ..... [40](#)
- C. The City’s Fees Violate The Headlee Amendment ..... [41](#)
  - 1. The Building Department Fees Have a Revenue-Raising Rather than a Regulatory Purpose ..... [42](#)
  - 2. The Building Department Fees are Not Proportional to the Cost of Service ..... [44](#)
  - 3. The Building Department Fees are Not Voluntary ..... [46](#)
  - 4. Conclusion Under Headlee Amendment Claim ..... [47](#)
- V. CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED ..... [48](#)

## INDEX OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases

<i>Adair v Mich</i> , 497 Mich 89; 860 NW2d 93 (2014), quoting <i>Durant v Mich</i> , 456 Mich 175; 566 NW2d 272 (1997) .....	<a href="#">5</a>
<i>Adams Outdoor Advertising v East Lansing</i> , 439 Mich 209; 483 NW2d 38 (1992) .....	<a href="#">41</a>
<i>Bailey v United States</i> , 516 US 137; 116 S Ct 501; 133 L Ed 2d 472 (1995) .....	<a href="#">28</a>
<i>Bloom v Ft Collins</i> , 784 P2d 304; 58 USLW 2402 (Colo, 1989) .....	<a href="#">36</a>
<i>Bolt v Lansing</i> ; 459 Mich 152; 587 NW2d 264 (1998) .....	<a href="#">15</a> , <a href="#">34-36</a> , <a href="#">41-47</a>
<i>Citizens Ins Co v Pro-Seal Serv Grp, Inc</i> , 477 Mich 75; 730 NW2d 682 (2007) .....	<a href="#">6</a> , <a href="#">27</a>
<i>City of Taylor v Detroit Edison Co</i> , 475 Mich 109; 715 NW2d 28 (2006) .....	<a href="#">29</a> , <a href="#">39</a>
<i>Clean Water Coalition v The M Resort, LLC</i> , 255 P3d 247 (Nev, 2011) .....	<a href="#">36</a>
<i>Deschaine v Germain</i> , 256 Mich App 665; 671 NW2d 79 (2003) .....	<a href="#">24</a> , <a href="#">25</a>
<i>Doe v Dep't of Corrections</i> , 240 Mich App 199; 611 NW2d 1 (2000) .....	<a href="#">20</a>
<i>Dressel v Ameribank</i> , 468 Mich 557; 664 NW2d 151 (2003) .....	<a href="#">17</a>
<i>Emerson College v Boston</i> , 391 Mass 415; 462 NE2d 1098 (Mass, 1984) .....	<a href="#">36</a>
<i>Franges v Gen Motors Corp</i> , 404 Mich 590; 274 NW2d 392 (1979) .....	<a href="#">37</a>
<i>Girard v Wagenmaker</i> , 437 Mich 231; 470 NW2d 372 (1991) .....	<a href="#">25</a>
<i>Graham v Kochville Twp</i> , 236 Mich App 141; 599 NW2d 793 (1999) .....	<a href="#">41</a> , <a href="#">44</a>
<i>Grand Rapids Motor Coach Co v Public Serv Comm</i> , 323 Mich 624; 36 NW2d 299 (1949) ..	<a href="#">38</a>
<i>Hanselman v Killeen</i> , 419 Mich 168; 351 NW2d 544 (1984) .....	<a href="#">18</a> , <a href="#">39</a>
<i>Hawaii Insurers Council v Lingle</i> , 201 P3d 564 (2008) .....	<a href="#">35</a> , <a href="#">36</a>
<i>Health Servs Med Corp of Central New York Inc v Chassin</i> , 175 Misc 2d 621; 668 NYS2d 1006 (1998), aff'd by 259 AD2d 1053; 689 NYS2d 875 (1999) .....	<a href="#">36</a>

<i>Herman v Berrien Co</i> , 481 Mich 352; 750 NW2d 570 (2008) . . . . .	<a href="#">20</a> , <a href="#">26</a> , <a href="#">28</a>
<i>In re CAW</i> , 469 Mich 192; 665 NW2 475 (2003) . . . . .	<a href="#">25</a>
<i>In re Complaint of Rovas Against SBC Mich</i> , 482 Mich 90; 754 NW2d 259 (2008) . . . . .	<a href="#">29</a>
<i>Jackson Co v City of Jackson</i> , 302 Mich App 90; 836 NW2d 903 (2013) . . . . .	<a href="#">43</a> , <a href="#">44</a>
<i>Krajenke Buick Sales v Kopkowski</i> , 322 Mich 250; 33 NW2d 781 (1948) . . . . .	<a href="#">41</a>
<i>Lee v JH Lee &amp; Son</i> , 72 Mich App 257; 249 NW2d 380 (1976) . . . . .	<a href="#">38</a>
<i>McJunkin v Cellasto Plastic Corp</i> , 461 Mich 590; 608 NW2d 57 (2000) . . . . .	<a href="#">17</a>
<i>Merrelli v St Clair Shores</i> , 355 Mich 575; 96 NW2d 144 (1959) . . . . .	<a href="#">34</a> , <a href="#">42</a>
<i>Mich Ass'n of Home Builders v Troy</i> , 497 Mich 281; 871 NW2d 1 (2015) . . . . .	<a href="#">3</a> , <a href="#">18</a> , <a href="#">28</a> , <a href="#">38</a>
<i>Mich Ass'n of Home Builders v Troy</i> , unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 13, 2014 (Docket No. 313688) . . . . .	<a href="#">3</a>
<i>Novi v Detroit</i> , 433 Mich 414; 466 NW2d 118 (1989) . . . . .	<a href="#">21</a>
<i>Oakland Co v Michigan</i> , 456 Mich 144; 566 NW2d 616 (1997) . . . . .	<a href="#">17</a>
<i>Pohutski v Allen Park</i> , 465 Mich 675; 641 NW2d 219 (2002) . . . . .	<a href="#">20</a> , <a href="#">24</a>
<i>Radio Common Carriers of New York, Inc v State of New York</i> , 158 Misc 2d 695; 601 NYS2d 513 (1993) . . . . .	<a href="#">36</a>
<i>Robinson v Detroit</i> , 462 Mich 439; 613 NW2d 307 (2000) . . . . .	<a href="#">25</a> , <a href="#">26</a>
<i>Robinson v Lansing</i> , 486 Mich 1; 782 NW2d 171 (2010) . . . . .	<a href="#">28</a>
<i>Rouge Parkway Assoc v City of Wayne</i> , 423 Mich 411; 377 NW2d 748 (1985) . . . . .	<a href="#">45</a>
<i>Saginaw Co v John Sexton Corp of Mich</i> , 232 Mich App 202; 591 NW2d 52 (1998) . . . . .	<a href="#">41</a>
<i>Sun Valley Foods Co v Ward</i> , 460 Mich 230; 596 NW2d 119 (1999) . . . . .	<a href="#">20</a>
<i>Trahey v Inkster</i> , 311 Mich App 582; 876 NW2d 582 (2015) . . . . .	<a href="#">33</a> , <a href="#">34</a>
<i>Travelers Ins v U-Haul of Mich Inc</i> , 235 Mich App 273; 597 NW2d 235 (1999) . . . . .	<a href="#">28</a>

*USAA Ins Co v Houston Gen Ins Co*, 220 Mich App 386; 559 NW2d 98 (1996) . . . . . [37](#)

*Wayne Co v Auditor Gen*, 250 Mich 227; 229 NW2d 911 (1930) . . . . . [28](#), [37](#)

**Court Rules**

MCR 2.116(C)(10) . . . . . [2](#)

MCR 2.116(I)(2) . . . . . [2](#)

MCR 7.302(B) . . . . . [5](#)

**Statutes**

MCL 123.41 . . . . . [33](#)

MCL 125.1508a(1) . . . . . [28](#)

MCL 125.1522(1) . . . . . [2](#), [18](#), [19](#), [23](#), [26](#), [27](#)

MCL 141.421, *et seq.* . . . . . [2](#), [30](#)

MCL 141.422a(3) . . . . . [11](#)

MCL 141.429 . . . . . [11](#)

MCL 141.440a(1) . . . . . [30](#)

MCL 460.6a . . . . . [33](#)

**Other Authority**

*Black’s Law Dictionary* (5<sup>th</sup> ed) . . . . . [34](#), [46](#)

*Black’s Law Dictionary* (6<sup>th</sup> ed) . . . . . [27](#)

*Black’s Law Dictionary* (7<sup>th</sup> ed) . . . . . [11](#)

Const 1963, art 7, §32 . . . . . [2](#)

Const 1963, art 9, §31 ..... [2](#), [41](#)

Const 1963, art 9, §32 ..... [41](#)

*Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed) ..... [27](#)

*Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* (9<sup>th</sup> ed) ..... [6](#)

The Department of Financial Services, City of Troy, Michigan, *Comprehensive Annual Financial Report For the year ended June 30, 2015: grow through community/lead through action* <<https://troymi.gov/Departments/City%20Manager/Financial%20Services/Financial%20Documents/CAFR/CAFR%202015.pdf>> (accessed Nov 7, 2017). .... [1](#), [7](#)

The Department of Financial Services, City of Troy, Michigan, *Comprehensive Annual Financial Report For the year ended June 30, 2016: Finding the Balance* <<https://troymi.gov/Departments/City%20Manager/Financial%20Services/Financial%20Documents/CAFR/CAFR%202016.pdf>> (accessed Nov 7, 2017). .... [1](#), [7](#)

**STATEMENT OF JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM**

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to MCR 7.301(A)(2) and MCR 7.302, Plaintiff-Appellants, the Michigan Association of Homebuilders, the Associated Builders and Contractors of Michigan, and the Michigan Plumbing and Mechanical Contractors Association, having timely filed this Application for Leave to Appeal from the September 28, 2017, 2-1 Opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals (“COA Opinion”). A copy of the Court of Appeals majority Opinion (“COA Op”) is attached as Exhibit A. A copy of the Court of Appeals dissenting Opinion (“COA Op, Dissent”) is attached as Exhibit B.



**STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE CIRCUIT COURT’S GRANT OF SUMMARY DISPOSITION IN FAVOR OF THE CITY AND DENIAL OF SUMMARY DISPOSITION IN FAVOR OF THE BUILDERS ON THE BUILDERS’ CLAIM UNDER SECTION 22 OF THE CONSTRUCTION CODE ACT (“CCA”):
- A. WHERE, CONTRARY TO THE COURT OF APPEALS INTERPRETATION, USE OF THE USER FEE SURPLUS TO THEORETICALLY OFFSET ALLEGED HISTORICAL SHORTFALLS VIOLATES THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF SECTION 22 OF THE CCA?
- B. WHERE USE OF THE USER FEE SURPLUS TO THEORETICALLY OFFSET ALLEGED HISTORICAL SHORTFALLS VIOLATES SECTION 22 BASED ON SECTION 22’S INTERRELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE CCA AND OTHER MICHIGAN LAWS?
- C. WHERE USE OF THE USER FEE SURPLUS TO THEORETICALLY OFFSET ALLEGED HISTORICAL SHORTFALLS VIOLATES THE PURPOSE OF SECTION 22 OF THE CCA?

The Court of Appeals answered: “No.”

The Circuit Court answered: “No.”

Plaintiffs-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Defendant-Appellee answers: “No.”

II. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE CIRCUIT COURT’S GRANT OF SUMMARY DISPOSITION IN FAVOR OF THE CITY AND DENIAL OF SUMMARY DISPOSITION IN FAVOR OF THE BUILDERS ON THE BUILDERS’ CLAIM UNDER THE HEADLEE AMENDMENT OF THE MICHIGAN CONSTITUTION:

- A. WHERE THE FEE SERVES A REVENUE-RAISING PURPOSE?
- B. WHERE THE FEE IS NOT PROPORTIONATE TO THE COST OF SERVICE?
- C. WHERE THE FEE IS UNDERTAKEN BY THE CONSUMER INVOLUNTARILY?

The Court of Appeals answered: “No.”

The Circuit Court answered: “No.”

Plaintiffs-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Defendant-Appellee answers: “No.”

## I. INTRODUCTION/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

This lawsuit involves the unlawful effect of Defendant/Appellee, City of Troy's (the "City") privatization of its Building Department through its contract with SafeBuilt of Michigan, Inc. ("SafeBuilt"). See, City of Troy Professional Services Agreement (the "Contract"), Exhibit C. SafeBuilt provides a "turnkey" building department services operation in exchange for receiving 75-80% of the "billable" fees listed in the Contract. The City retains the 20-25% surplus. Deposition Transcript of John Lamerato ("Lamerato Dep Tran"), p 21, Exhibit D; Contract, §3.2, p 2, Exhibit C. The City also retains 100% of other "non-billable" Building Department fees to which SafeBuilt is not entitled. Deposition Transcript of Mark Miller ("Miller Dep Tran"), p 122, Exhibit E. This arrangement generated a substantial fee surplus for the City starting in 2010-11 and for all years thereafter (the "User Fee Surplus"). The City admits that, as of 2014, the total User Fee Surplus was \$1,498,565. 2011 Calculations, Exhibit F; COA Op, Dissent, p 2, Exhibit B. According to public records, that total was increased to \$2,326,061 by 2016.<sup>1</sup> The City continues to collect the User Fee Surplus to this day.

The User Fee Surplus was not, and is still not, used to operate the Building Department. Instead, as admitted by the City, the entire User Fee Surplus has been, and continues to be,

---

<sup>1</sup> These amounts are found in the 2015 and 2016 Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports ("CAFRs") filed by the City with the State of Michigan Department of Treasury. The 2015 City of Troy CAFR is publically available at: <https://troymi.gov/Departments/City%20Manager/Financial%20Services/Financial%20Documents/CAFR/CAFR%202015.pdf>; Fee Surplus reported at p 61 (of report), p 70/187 (of pdf). The 2016 City of Troy CAFR is publically available at: <https://troymi.gov/Departments/City%20Manager/Financial%20Services/Financial%20Documents/CAFR/CAFR%202016.pdf>; Fee Surplus reported at p 61 (of report), p 70/189 (of pdf). Judicial notice can be taken at any stage of the proceeding. MRE 201(e).

deposited into the City's general fund for general, unrestricted use. Miller Dep Tran, pp 98, 120 and 127, Exhibit E; Lamareto Dep Tran, pp 37, 43 and 46, Exhibit D.

As a result, Plaintiffs/Appellants, Michigan Association of Home Builders, Associated Builders and Contractors of Michigan, and Michigan Plumbing and Mechanical Contractors Association (collectively, the "Builders") filed a 3-count Verified Complaint on December 15, 2010, alleging violations of the State Construction Code Act ("CCA") (Count I), the Headlee Amendment to the Michigan Constitution (Count II), and seeking declaratory and injunctive relief for these violations (Count III). More specifically, the Builders alleged that the City's deposit of User Fee Surplus into the general fund violated Section 22 of the CCA, which requires that fees be: (1) "reasonable;" (2) "bear a reasonable relation to the cost" of Building Department services; and (3) be used for "operation of" the Building Department only and for no other purpose." MCL 125.1522(1) (emphasis supplied). In addition, the Builders claimed that the City's use of the User Fee Surplus for general revenue purposes constitutes an unlawful tax that violates the Headlee Amendment to Michigan's Constitution. Const 1963, art 9, §31. Thus, the Builders sought declaratory and injunctive relief to require that all Building Department revenue be segregated and used solely for the Building Department, consistent with the CCA and Michigan's Constitution. MCL 141.421, *et seq*; Const 1963, art 7, §32.

After completion of some, but not all, discovery, the Builders moved for summary disposition pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(10) on all counts. The City filed its brief in opposition seeking summary disposition in its favor under MCR 2.116(I)(2). On November 13, 2012, the Circuit Court issued its Opinion and Order denying the Builders' motion for summary disposition, granting summary disposition in favor of the City and dismissing the Builders' Complaint in its entirety based on the

Builders' failure to exhaust their administrative remedies under Section 9b of the CCA. The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the Circuit Court in an unpublished opinion issued March 13, 2014. *Mich Ass'n of Home Builders v Troy*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 13, 2014 (Docket No. 313688). The Builders filed an Application for Leave to Appeal with this Court. This Court ordered and heard oral argument on whether to grant the Builders' Application or take other peremptory action. **In a unanimous Opinion, this Court reversed the judgment of the Court of Appeals and remanded the case to the Circuit Court for further proceedings on the merits of the Builders' claims.** *Mich Ass'n of Home Builders v Troy*, 497 Mich 281; 871 NW2d 1 (2015).

On remand, the parties renewed their cross-motions for summary disposition on the issues discussed above. On February 5, 2016, the Circuit Court granted summary disposition in favor of the City and denied the Builder's motion for summary disposition concluding that the City's deposit of the User Fee Surplus into its general fund did not violate either the CCA or the Headlee Amendment. Circuit Court Opinion, February 5, 2016 ("Cir Ct Op"), p 6, Exhibit G. More specifically, the Circuit Court found that although the City was depositing the User Surplus Fees into the general fund which, in general, was prohibited under the CCA, the City was doing so for the statutorily permitted purpose of repaying prior allocations of tax dollars from the general fund to the building department used to cover shortfalls incurred in the operation of the building department from years prior to the SafeBuilt Contract. *Id.*, p 5. In addition, the Circuit Court dismissed the Builders' claim under the Headlee Amendment finding that the fees were for a regulatory purpose which were proportionate to the cost of operating the building department (if you assume the repayment of prior tax dollar allocations from the general fund is a

proper operating cost) and were paid voluntarily by only persons wanting to build upon, or renovate, their properties. *Id.*, p 9.

On September 28, 2017, the Court of Appeals, in a 2-1 decision, affirmed the Circuit Court's grant of summary disposition in favor of the City and its denial of the Builders' motion for summary disposition. On the issue of the City's violation of the CCA, the majority opinion of the Court of Appeals found that the CCA did not prohibit the City's actions, relying on an improper interpretation and construction of the CCA as well as public utility case law and a "Numbered Letter" issued by the Michigan Department of Treasury ("Treasury") to find that Treasury had at least implicitly, if not explicitly, recognized that surpluses could be collected and used to offset shortfalls from prior fiscal years which had been covered with money from the general fund. COA Op, pp 6-7, Exhibit A. On the Headlee Amendment claim, the majority found that the CCA was regulatory in nature, that the fees were reasonable (again, if you assume that repayment of prior allocations from the general fund is a proper operating cost) and that the fees were paid voluntarily. *Id.*, pp 8-10.

From the COA Opinion, the Builders file this Application for Leave to Appeal with this Court (the "Application"). The City has violated, and continues to violate, the CCA and the Headlee Amendment. Accordingly, this Court should peremptorily reverse the COA Opinion and remand this case to the Oakland County Circuit Court for entry of an order granting summary disposition in favor of the Builders or, alternatively, grant the Builders' Application.

## II. GROUNDS FOR PEREMPTORY REVERSAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF APPLICATION

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