STATE OF MICHIGAN
MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

MICHIGAN ASSOCIATION OF HOME BUILDERS; ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS OF MICHIGAN; AND MICHIGAN PLUMBING AND MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION, Michigan Non-Profit Corporations,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

Supreme Court No. 156737
Court of Appeals Case No. 331708
Circuit Court Case No. 10-115620-CZ

v.

CITY OF TROY, a Michigan Municipal Corporation,

Defendant-Appellee.

GREGORY L. McCLELLAND (P28894)
MELISSA A. HAGEN (P42868)
MCCLELLAND & ANDERSON, LLP
Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellants
1305 S. Washington Ave., Ste. 102
Lansing, Michigan 48910
(517) 482-4890

LORI GRIGG BLUHM (P46908)
ALLAN T. MOTZNY (P37580)
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THEY HAVE FAILED TO ESTABLISH SUFFICIENT GROUNDS JUSTIFYING FURTHER JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE LOWER COURTS DECISIONS

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Before this Court exercises its unfettered discretion in deciding whether to grant an application for leave to appeal, Plaintiffs are required to demonstrate that the case meets one of the six different grounds set forth in MCR 7.305(B)(1) – (6). In this case, Plaintiffs rely on MCR 7.305(B)(3) and MCR 7.305(B)(5) as the basis for their request.

Under MCR 7.305(B)(3), Plaintiffs must establish that the issue in the case “*involves legal principles of major significance to the state’s jurisprudence*”. Under MCR 7.305(B)(5), Plaintiffs must establish that the Court of Appeals decision “*is clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice or the decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.*” A finding is clearly erroneous when, on review of the whole record, the reviewing court is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. *Boyd v. Civil Serv. Comm’n*, 220 Mich App 226, 234–235; 559 NW2d 342 (1996). “Material injustice” is not defined in Michigan appellate decisions. However, an “injustice” is the withholding or denial of justice. *Blacks Law Dictionary* (5th ed). The term “material” has been defined to include “important; more or less necessary; having influence or effect; going to the merits; having to do with matter, as distinguished from form.” *Id.* Thus, a material injustice occurs if someone is denied justice and that denial affects the merits of a case. As set forth below, Plaintiffs have failed to establish either of these criteria, and therefore this case is not worthy of the Court’s consideration, and the Application should be denied.

B. FURTHER JUDICIAL REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED IN THIS CASE

Plaintiffs assert this case presents legal principles of major significance to the State’s jurisprudence and requires this Court’s intervention due the erroneous decisions of the lower courts. In making this argument, Plaintiffs theorize that there are “kickback” contractual arrangements for building inspection services occurring throughout the State of Michigan, but they fail to produce any evidence to support this bold claim. As stated above, the City’s accounting practices are in accordance with the CCA, have been approved by independent auditors, and are public documents that are filed with the

State of Michigan Treasurer. Absent this unsubstantiated fear of widespread municipal finance manipulation, there is no other basis for this Court's review, since the decisions of the lower courts in this case were based on well-established legal principles involving statutory interpretation and the presumed reasonableness of municipal fees. Also, as discussed in more detail below, the decision of the Court of Appeals is not clearly erroneous. In cases where the law is well settled and the Court's decision merely entails an application of the law to the facts, this is not considered an issue of major significance to the jurisprudence of this State, as required by MCR 7.305(B)(3). *People v. Tyrer*, 385 Mich 484, 489–490; 189 NW2d 226 (1971). In *Tyrer*, this Court initially granted leave to appeal, in order to decide whether evidence as to malice in a second-degree murder prosecution was sufficient to be considered by a jury. On reconsideration, this Court determined that leave to appeal was improvidently granted, since malice questions usually involve an application of the law to specific facts. *Id.*, 490-491. In dismissing the appeal, this Court noted that the law of malice, though intricate, is fairly well settled in history, and therefore this was not a question of first impression that justified the Court's review of the case. *Id.* at 490.

Likewise, in this case, the law is well settled that municipal charges are presumed reasonable unless established otherwise. *Merrelli v. City of St. Clair Shores*, 355 Mich 575, 583–584; 96 NW2d 144 (1959). Plaintiffs are not asking this Court to change that law. Instead, Plaintiffs' application for leave to appeal argues the facts in this case in an attempt to show that the City's fees are not reasonable – an argument rejected by both the lower courts. Plaintiffs' Headlee Amendment claim is also a fact based argument. Plaintiffs do not seek to change the three prong analysis set forth in

the *Bolt* case that has been followed by Michigan Courts for over 18 years to determine whether a municipal fee constitutes a tax. Plaintiffs merely disagree with the conclusion reached by the lower courts even though those courts properly addressed the three criteria as required by *Bolt*.

One of the arguments made by the Plaintiffs is that a municipality cannot use present surpluses to offset past shortfalls. This argument, however, has already been addressed by the Michigan Court of Appeals in a prior case. In *Trahey v. City of Inkster*, 311 Mich App 582, 597–598; 876 NW2d 582 (2015), citing *In re Consumers Energy Application For Rate Increase*, 291 Mich App 106, 113–114; 804 NW2d 574 (2010), the Court held that past expenses and costs may be taken into account when determining a new utility rate. Although Plaintiffs attempt to distinguish the *Trahey* case by claiming the decision is only applicable to public utility cases, a review of the decision indicates the Court’s conclusion was based on the principle that municipal fees are presumed reasonable unless there is evidence to the contrary. The Court noted the plaintiff in that case failed to provide “*evidence showing that the method chosen by the city to maintain its operations and repay its debts was unreasonable, and absent evidence of impropriety, we will not independently scrutinize the municipal ratemaking methods employed by the city.*” *Trahey*, 597-598. In this case, as in *Trahey*, the lower courts determined a municipal fee structure in which a portion of the revenue from the fees is used to offset past shortfalls is presumed reasonable unless proven otherwise. In this case, the lower courts opined that Plaintiffs failed to overcome the well-established principle that municipal fees are presumed reasonable. This case does not present legal principles of major significance to the state’s jurisprudence.

It is also clear that Plaintiffs are not seeking any type of decision that would alter the way Michigan courts construe statutes. The Court of Appeals followed the general rules of statutory construction in determining the City's fees did not violate MCL 125.1522. Plaintiffs' legal argument in the Application appears to hinge on established rules of statutory construction. Plaintiffs are not suggesting that this Court apply any new or different method for determining the meaning of the statute. Instead, Plaintiffs object to the conclusions reached by the lower courts after applying the general rules of statutory construction. The crux of Plaintiffs' case requires the application of existing law to specific facts, and therefore it is not an appropriate case for which an application for leave to appeal should be granted. *Tyrer*, 490-491. The Plaintiffs have not shown the issues in this case involve legal principles of major significance to the state's jurisprudence as required by MCR 7.305(B)(3). Therefore, the application for leave to appeal should be denied.

Another reason why further judicial review is not warranted is that the CCA does not authorize a private cause of action. The legislative body of a governmental subdivision is the entity responsible for establishing fees pursuant to MCL 125.1522(1). *Michigan Ass'n of Home Builders v. City of Troy*, 497 Mich 281, 288; 871 NW2d 1 (2015). Accordingly, in Troy, the Troy City Council is authorized to establish its own building permit fees. There is no express statutory provision allowing Plaintiffs to challenge the Troy City Council's establishment of fees under the CCA.

The Supreme Court in *Lash v. City of Traverse City*, 479 Mich 180, 735 NW2d 628 (2007), determined that a Plaintiff could not pursue a civil action for money damages against his City employer based on an alleged violation of MCL 15.602, since

there was no express statutory authorization permitting a private cause of action. *Lash*, 194. Although *Lash* requested monetary damages, this rule has also been applied in lawsuits where only equitable relief is requested. *Office Planning Grp., Inc. v. Baraga-Houghton-Keweenaw Child Dev. Bd.*, 472 Mich 479, 697 NW2d 871 (2005). In the *Office Planning Group* case, the plaintiff unsuccessfully sought enforcement of the federal Head Start Act (42 USC 9839(a)), but the Court ruled there was no authority to initiate a private cause of action to enforce the statute. *Office Planning Group*, 504. According to *Office Planning Group*, courts must examine the text of the particular statute to determine if there is an explicit or implicit intent to provide for the initiation of a private cause of action. *Id.* In that case, the Court concluded that since the statute “does not provide for a private cause of action to enforce the disclosure requirement of § 9839(a), plaintiff has failed to state a cognizable claim.” *Id.*, 505. As with the Head Start Act in *Office Planning*, the CCA does not expressly or implicitly allow a private cause of action against a legislative body for a violation of the Act.

Another reason further judicial review should be declined is based on the concept of the separation of powers. As noted above, MCL 125.1522(1) confers upon the Troy City Council the legislative authority to establish building permit fees. Whenever a statute confers legislative authority, the judiciary is precluded from reviewing the discretionary action of the legislative body. *Warda v. City Council of City of Flushing*, 472 Mich 326, 332 – 333 and n3; 696 NW2d 671 (2005). The statute specifically provides that a legislative body is required to set permit fees “that bear a reasonable relation” to the costs “including overhead” of the acts and services provided by the enforcing agency. Thus, the Troy City Council is given the discretion to determine what

fees are reasonable based on its particular circumstances. As long as the legislative body acts within its discretion, the courts may not interpose. *In re Mfr.'s Freight Forwarding Co.*, 294 Mich 57, 65; 292 NW 678 (1940), quoting from *Louisville & N.R. Co. v. Garrett*, 231 US 298, 34 S Ct 48, 54, 58 L. Ed 229 (1913). When a statute assigns specific duties to a public official or to the executive or legislative branch of government, the Court “cannot serve as political overseers of the executive or legislative branches, weighing the costs and benefits of competing political ideas or the wisdom of the executive or legislative branches in taking certain actions, but may only determine whether some constitutional provision has been violated...” *Straus v. Governor*, 459 Mich 526, 531; 592 NW2d 53 (1999). Absent peculiar circumstances, a court may not supervise a public official’s contemplated performance of his or her duties without violating the principles of separation of powers. *Beaman v. Montante*, 377 Mich 31, 36; 138 NW2d 764 (1966).

MCL 125.1522(1) expressly defers to the municipal legislative body in setting of reasonable fees, based on an analysis of the costs of the enforcing agency. If Plaintiffs disagree with Troy City Council’s legislative determination, their remedy is to show up at a City Council meeting and request a change or to work towards electing a more responsive City Council in the next election. The lower courts deferred to the Troy City Council, and affirmed the reasonableness of the City of Troy’s building permit fees and the compliance with the CCA. The CCA statute does not authorize judicial review of a legislative body’s exercise of discretion in establishing fees under the CCA, and there is no reason for additional judicial review. Plaintiff’s application for leave to appeal should be denied.

C. THE LOWER COURTS CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE PAYMENT OF BUILDING DEPARTMENT REVENUES INTO THE GENERAL FUND FOR PAST AND PRESENT CONSTRUCTION CODE ACT ENFORCEMENT DOES NOT VIOLATE MCL 125.1522(1)

The Circuit Court's grant of summary disposition in favor of the City and the affirmance by the Court of Appeals was appropriate, since Plaintiffs failed to establish any violation of the CCA. The Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate the decisions of the lower courts are clearly erroneous. Therefore, this Court should deny the application for leave to appeal.

Section 22 of the CCA, MCL 125.1522(1) provides as follows:

The legislative body of a governmental subdivision shall establish reasonable fees to be charged by the governmental subdivision for acts and services performed by the enforcing agency or construction board of appeals under this act, which fees shall be intended to bear a reasonable relation to the cost, including overhead, to the governmental subdivision of the acts and services, including, without limitation, those services and acts as, in case of an enforcing agency, issuance of building permits, examination of plans and specifications, inspection of construction undertaken pursuant to a building permit, and the issuance of certificates of use and occupancy, and in case of a board of appeals, hearing appeals in accordance with this act. The enforcing agency shall collect the fees established under this subsection. The legislative body of a governmental subdivision shall only use fees generated under this section for the operation of the enforcing agency or the construction board of appeals, or both, and shall not use the fees for any other purpose.

The City's CAFR reports demonstrate the City of Troy has used CCA fees only for the operation of the enforcing agency, in compliance with MCL 125.1522(1). The building permit fees established by the City of Troy, which have not increased since 2009, bear a reasonable relation to the cost, including overhead, of the acts and services performed in the operation of Construction Code activities as required by the

statute. Since all the fees received by the City are used to cover the direct and indirect costs of Construction Code activities, and for the restoration of the cumulative shortfall that has accrued as the result of the previous Construction Code Act performance, the City is in full compliance with the CCA.

In the application for leave to appeal, Plaintiffs cite *Hanselman v. Killeen*, 419 Mich 168, 187; 351 NW2d 544 (1984) and argue that the City's establishment of its CCA fees violated one of the two limits imposed on municipalities through the statutory language. According to Plaintiffs, MCL 125.1522(1) places two limitations on a municipality's authority to establish construction code fees. The first statutory limitation requires a governmental subdivision "*shall establish reasonable fees...intended to bear a reasonable relation to the cost...*" The second limitation in the statute that requires that a governmental subdivision "...*shall only use fees generated under this section for the operation of the enforcing agency or the construction board of appeals, or both.*" Plaintiffs have failed to support their argument that the City's fees are invalid as a result of a violation of these two provisions.

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